

Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Biomass and Bioenergy 29 (2005) 269-292



www.elsevier.com/locate/biombioe

Review

### Biomass gasification in near- and super-critical water: Status and prospects

Yukihiko Matsumura<sup>a,\*</sup>, Tomoaki Minowa<sup>b</sup>, Biljana Potic<sup>c</sup>, Sascha R.A. Kersten<sup>c</sup>, Wolter Prins<sup>c</sup>, Willibrordus P.M. van Swaaij<sup>c</sup>, Bert van de Beld<sup>d</sup>, Douglas C. Elliott<sup>e</sup>, Gary G. Neuenschwander<sup>e</sup>, Andrea Kruse<sup>f</sup>, Michael Jerry Antal Jr.<sup>g</sup>

<sup>a</sup>Department of Mechanical System Engineering, Hiroshima University, 1-4-1 Kagamiyama, Higashi-hiroshima-shi, Hiroshima 739-8527, Japan

<sup>b</sup>Biomass Technology Research Laboratory, National Institute of Advanced Industrial Science and Technology, 2-2-2 Hiro-Suehiro, Kure-shi, Hiroshima 737-0197, Japan

<sup>c</sup>TCCB Group, Faculty of Chemical Technology, University of Twente, P.O. Box 217, 7500 AE, Enschede, The Netherlands <sup>d</sup>Biomass Technology Group B.V., Pantheon 12, 7521 PR, Enschede, The Netherlands

<sup>e</sup>Pacific Northwest National Laboratory, P.O. Box 999, MSIN K2-12, Richland, Washington 99352, USA

<sup>1</sup>Institut fuer Technische Chemie, Forschungszentrum Karlsruhe GmbH, Postfach 3640, D-76021 Karlsruhe, Germany

<sup>g</sup>Hawaii Natural Energy Institute, School of Ocean and Earth Science and Technology, University of Hawaii at Manoa, Honolulu, Hawaii 96822, USA

> Received 13 January 2004; received in revised form 20 March 2005; accepted 15 April 2005 Available online 21 June 2005

### Abstract

The current status of biomass gasification in near- and supercritical water (SCWG) is reviewed. There are two approaches to biomass gasification in supercritical water. The first: low-temperature catalytic gasification, employs reaction temperature ranging from 350 to 600 °C, and gasifies the feedstock with the aid of metal catalysts. The second: high-temperature supercritical water gasification, employs reaction temperatures ranging from 500 to 750 °C, without catalyst or with non-metallic catalysts. Reviews are made on reaction mechanism, catalyst, and experimental results for these two approaches. Engineering technologies for SCWG gasification, and an example of process analysis are also introduced. Finally, the authors' prognostications on the future prospects of this technology are offered. © 2005 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

Keywords: Reaction mechanism; Catalyst; Reactor

<sup>\*</sup>Corresponding author. Tel./fax: +81824247561.

E-mail address: matumura@mec.hiroshima-u.ac.jp (Y. Matsumura).

<sup>0961-9534/</sup> $\$ - see front matter  $\$  2005 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.biombioe.2005.04.006

### Contents

1.	Introd	luction	270
2.	Reactor systems		272
	2.1.	General considerations	272
	2.2.	Quartz capillary batch reactor	273
	2.3.	Fluidized bed micro reactor	273
	2.4.	The PDU tubular reactor	274
3.	Low-t	emperature catalytic gasification	275
	3.1.	The Battelle concept—single-step gasification/methane synthesis	275
	3.2.	Review of catalysts	276
	3.3.	Fundamental reaction scheme and effect of catalysts	276
	3.4.	Interaction between components	277
	3.5.	Review of recent batch biomass results.	278
	3.6.	Review of bench-scale continuous reactor results.	279
	3.7.	Effect of partial oxidation	280
4.	High-temperature supercritical water gasification		280
	4.1.	Treatment of single chemical compounds	280
		4.1.1. Reactions without catalyst: glycerol and glucose	280
		4.1.2. Reaction under the influence of catalyst	281
	4.2.	Treatment of biomass compounds	282
		4.2.1. Results of the conversion of model biomass (baby food) in near- and supercritical water	282
		4.2.2. Sawdust	284
		4.2.3. Potato waste	285
	4.3.	NEDO supercritical methanation.	285
	4.4.	Metal oxide catalysts	285
5.	Engineering of supercritical/subcritical water gasification processes		285
	5.1.	Feedstock pretreatment.	285
	5.2.	Heat recovery unit	286
	5.3.	Depressurization system	287
	5.4.	Gas recovery	287
6.	Advar	ntages and possibilities of near- and supercritical water gasification	287
7.	Concl	uding remarks	288
Ack	Acknowledgments		
Refe	References 28		

### 1. Introduction

Following more than 30 years of research, there is now intense worldwide interest in the use of hydrogen as an alternative transportation fuel. This interest is founded upon the expectation that hydrogen will be produced at a competitive price with conventional fossil fuels. One method for producing hydrogen is the steam reforming of biomass [1,2].

$$C_6H_{10}O_5 + 7H_2O \rightarrow 6CO_2 + 12H_2.$$
 (1)

In this idealized, stoichiometric equation, cellulose (represented as  $C_6H_{10}O_5$ ) reacts with water to produce hydrogen and carbon dioxide, mimicking the commercial manufacture of hydrogen from methane by catalytic steam reforming chemistry [3–6]. As early as 1978 Antal reported detailed thermochemical equilibrium predictions of the effects of reaction temperature and pressure on the reaction products of 1 mol of cellulose with 7 mol of water (as in Eq. (1)) [2]. Temperatures above 600 °C were predicted to leave no solid carbon product and produce a gas rich in H<sub>2</sub>, CH<sub>4</sub>, CO, and CO<sub>2</sub>. These thermochemical equilibrium calculations were also used to predict the magnitude of the endotherm associated with the cellulose steam-reforming step at 600 °C. At the same time,

270

studies were reported of the reaction kinetics of cellulose pyrolysis in steam. The presence of steam had little or no measurable effect on the fast pyrolysis reactions under atmospheric pressure [2,7–9].

Of course, a practical technology must convert the cellulose, hemicellulose, lignin, protein, and extractive components of a biomass feedstock into a gas rich in hydrogen and carbon dioxide. Unfortunately, as predicted by the early work with cellulose [2,7-9], biomass does not react directly with steam at atmospheric pressure to produce the desired products. Instead, significant amounts of tar and char are formed, and the gas contains higher hydrocarbons in addition to the desired light gases [7,10-13]. The work of Corella and his co-workers [14] illustrates these obstacles. In a fluid bed operating at atmospheric pressure Corella's group observed char yields of 10-20 wt% from the steam gasification of wood sawdust, and yields of tar decreasing to 4 wt% as the temperature of the bed increased from 650 to 775 °C. Unfortunately, at the highest temperature only 80% of the carbon in the feedstock was converted to gas [14]. By employing a secondary, fluidized bed of calcined dolomite operating at 800 to 875 °C, Corella and his coworkers [15] were able to convert almost all the tar to gas. Nevertheless, the char byproduct remained unconverted. Any production of char represents an effective loss of gas. Many other workers have reported similar results [16]. Thus, the formation of pyrolytic char and tar during gasification sets limits on the efficient production of hydrogen from biomass for the biomass conversion under the atmospheric pressure.

Some of these problems were overcome in 1985, when Modell [17] described experiments involving the quick immersion of maple wood sawdust in supercritical water: water above its critical pressure of 22.1 MPa. The sawdust quickly decomposed to tars and some gas without the formation of char. Measurements of the pyrolysis kinetics of biomass materials offer an explanation for this unexpected result. Cellulose is most stable component of biomass [18]; nevertheless, cellulose decomposes rapidly at temperatures below the critical temperature of water [19,20]. Thus, Modell's experiments involved pyrolysis of wood sawdust in *liquid* water. The reactions of biomass and its components in liquid water are a focus of current interest. At temperatures above 190 °C a part of lignin and hemicellulose macromolecules undergo solvolysis after only a few minutes of exposure to hot liquid water [17-22]. Hydrothermolysis of the remaining lignocellulosic solid occurs at somewhat higher temperatures. The initial products of these solvolysis reactions subsequently undergo a variety of isomerization, dehydration, fragmentation, and condensations reactions [22-31], that ultimately form gas and tars [32,33]. At temperatures above 600 °C and pressures in excess of the critical pressure, hydrothermolysis transforms biomass into a combustible gas composed of hydrogen, methane, carbon dioxide and carbon monoxide, together with some tar [34–36]. Thus, char formation is suppressed when biomass gasification occurs in liquid water or supercritical water, and tar gasification becomes the chief obstacle to the total steam reforming of biomass.

As evidenced in the work of Corella and his colleagues [14] discussed above, temperatures in excess of 700 °C effectively convert most (but not all) of the tars to gas [2,11,13]. Much work has been reported on the use of heterogeneous catalysts (primarily Ni) to gasify the pyrolytic tars [15,37–55]. These heterogeneous catalysts are also effective in near-critical water and can be used biomass gasification as shown in the following sections, but one problem is that Ni and many of the other metallic catalysts can suffer severe corrosion in supercritical water at temperatures needed to secure high yields of hydrogen. As another approach, Antal overcame this problem by the use of charcoal and other carbons as catalysts for the gasification of tars in supercritical water [36]. Although carbon is perceived to be an unlikely catalyst, there is an extensive literature on its use as both a catalyst support and a catalyst [56,57]. The use of a carbon catalyst resulted in the formation of extraordinary yields of gas  $(>2 L g^{-1})$  from wood sawdust feedstocks, with clean water as the major byproduct of the gasification chemistry.

As shown here, throughout the development of the technology upto today, possibility of biomass gasification in near- and supercritical water (SCWG) has been shown so that complete conversion of biomass into combustible gas is achieved. This technology opens a door to the realization of effective thermochemical gasification of biomass, especially wet ones. Unfortunately, due to the novelty of this technology, it is not widely known to the biomass society. In this paper, the current status of biomass gasification in SCWG is reviewed. First, reactor systems that is employed for SCWG gasification is described. Then, two different approaches in terms of reaction temperature are described. Between the low  $(350 \,^\circ \text{C})$  and high temperature  $(600 \,^\circ \text{C})$ systems, reaction mechanism, catalyst to be used, reactivity of the feedstock, reaction rates, and other important features of the reaction differ. Thus, these two approaches are reviewed in different sections below. Then, engineering technologies for SCWG gasification, and an example of process analysis are introduced. Finally, the authors' prognostications on the future prospects of this technology are offered.

### 2. Reactor systems

In SCWG gasification, due to the high temperature and pressure, reactor setup needs consideration (see Section 2.1). As characteristic reactors for supercritical water gasification, quartz capillary batch reactor (see Section 2.2), fluidized bed micro reactor (Section 2.3), and PDU tubular reactor (see Section 2.4) are introduced.

### 2.1. General considerations

Biomass gasification in supercritical water is a novel process, under development (with limited effort) since the late seventies. Large-scale commercial installations do not yet exist. The largest plant, in operation since the beginning of 2003, is the one of Forschungszentrum Karlsruhe (FzK) in Germany [58]. It has a design capacity of about  $100 Lh^{-1}$ , and was built to demonstrate supercritical gasification of wet residues from wine production. EU subsidies plus a grant awarded by the Japanese NEDO enabled the construction of a well-equipped process development unit (PDU) in Enschede, The Netherlands [59], with a maximum throughput capacity of  $30 \text{ L} \text{ h}^{-1}$ . BTG Biomass Technology Group b.v. has been responsible for the technical realization and start-up of the PDU, which will be further used in Ph.D. research work at the University of Twente.

Several small reactors are used in laboratories of e.g. University of Hawaii, Osaka Gas, Pacific Northwest National Laboratory, FzK, Hiroshima University, and in The Netherlands (University of Twente, TNO-MEP and BTG). Batch autoclaves of steel are favored to examine the product yield and distribution for various feedstock materials, process conditions and catalyst formulations. A disadvantage of the steel autoclaves is that it takes quite some time to heat them to reaction conditions. If the gasification rate is larger than the heating rate, the conversion will proceed at undefined temperatures. Moreover, possible catalytic effects of the metal reactor wall have been suggested in the literature [35].

The application at Twente University of quartz capillaries as batch micro-reactors is new. It allows high speed and inexpensive testing, with the additional advantage of possible visual observations. Photo and film techniques can be applied to record the sequence of events inside the transparent capillaries during heating and pressurization. A drawback however is that the pressure inside a capillary cannot be measured. It is derived indirectly from the implied temperature, and the sample plus reactor volume.

When continuous operation is aimed at, tubular steel reactors are often used. Although a stirred tank reactor can be used in a laboratory, it has not yet been considered for practical application. To maintain the same capacity, a stirred tank reactor normally should have a larger volume than a tubular reactor. The biomass concentration is notably lower in a stirred tank reactor, due to the rapid dilution to reactor outlet conditions. An argument in favor of the stirred tank reactor is that the carbon conversion in SCWG of biomass increases at lower biomass concentrations, as observed in the quartz capillary measurements Y. Matsumura et al. / Biomass and Bioenergy 29 (2005) 269-292

quoted before. Practical problems may be related to e.g. the efficient insulation of a tank reactor, and the need for stirring power.

One could state that the reactor development for a commercial SCWG process is still to be started. Apart from tubular and (series of) stirred tank reactors, many others may be suitable. In case of heterogeneous catalysis, fixed and fluidized beds could be considered as well.

However, to allow a proper reactor design analysis, data on reaction kinetics obtained for well-defined conditions must be made available, and a model should be developed for the dominant reaction steps. A problem of general nature in SCGW is the required heat exchange between the reactor outlet and inlet streams. To achieve an acceptable thermal efficiency, it is crucial for the process that the heat of the inlet stream is utilized as far as possible to pre-heat the feedstock stream (mainly water) to reaction conditions. At the same time, heating of the biomass slurry in the inlet tube of a reactor is likely to cause fouling/plugging problems because the thermal decomposition  $(>250 \,^{\circ}\text{C})$  starts already far below the desired reaction temperature (>600  $^{\circ}$ C). A related phenomenon is that the feed stream will pass through the supercritical point in the heat exchanger with, up to now, unknown consequences.

### 2.2. Quartz capillary batch reactor

In order to improve the understanding of biomass gasification in supercritical water and to identify the optimal process conditions and possible process bottlenecks, a transparent highthroughput capillary technique has been developed. This technique uses quartz batch reactors of 1 mm ID and 150 mm length (capillaries, see Fig. 1). In the sealed capillaries, different concentrations of the model compounds can be exposed to the various temperatures, pressures and residence times. The capillaries are heated rapidly (within 5s) in a fluidized sand bed to the desired reaction temperature. Changing the amount of solution in the capillaries enables the variation of the pressure. After the reaction, the capillaries are quenched and smashed after which the released product gases are analyzed with a gas chromato-



Fig. 1. Photo of the capillary reactors with a 1 EURO coin (diameter: 23 mm).

graph. The capillary technique has several distinct advantages:

- quartz has no or hardly any effect on the reaction kinetics,
- some reaction products are visible (tar, char),
- conducting the experiments is very fast and safe.

Detailed description of the technique is presented elsewhere [60]. Preliminary results are discussed in Section 4.1.1.

### 2.3. Fluidized bed micro reactor

Experimentation with the capillary method has revealed that, especially at low temperatures and high feed concentrations, char formation occurs. A fluidized bed reactor might be a good alternative to solve the problems related to this char and ash formation (viz. blockage and accumulation). As a part of the NEDO Grant research, the University of Twente constructed a fluidized bed reactor using a quartz tube with an inner diameter of 1 mm and an outer diameter of 3 mm. A quartz ball in the bottom part was employed as gas distributor. Quartz sand particles with an average diameter of 100 µm were used as fluidized bed material. The expected advantages are that a fluid bed (i) enhances the mass/heat transfer rates in the reactor, (ii) can be made catalytically active,

(iii) can be used to collect the minerals (ash) and coke by deposition on the bed particle surface, and (iv) can be used for withdrawal of solid particles from the reactor. From the experiments conducted in the micro FB reactor major observations and conclusions are:

- At supercritical conditions the conventional Darcy-law based relations can be used to calculate minimum fluidization velocity and the bed expansion.
- In low density region  $(<90 \text{ kg m}^{-3})$  only aggregative fluidization was observed.
- For the higher densities (100 < density < 230 kg m<sup>-3</sup>), both particulate and aggregative regimes were observed.

### 2.4. The PDU tubular reactor

To experience all problems possibly related to the development of the SCWG process it was decided to build and test a PDU of simple and straightforward design in the high-pressure (HP) laboratories of Twente University. It has a capacity of  $5-30 \text{ L} \text{ h}^{-1}$  and is designed for operation temperatures up to  $650 \,^{\circ}\text{C}$  and a pressure of around 30 MPa. A flow sheet of the process is given in Fig. 2. Four liquid containers are installed, represented by only one in the figure.

Two feedstock vessels allow the switching from one to another type of biomass (or another composition). At least 2h of operation is possible without refilling the feedstock bins. The other two



Fig. 2. Simplified scheme of the PDU for biomass gasification in supercritical water, built by BTG for the University of Twente.

storage vessels contain clean and effluent water, respectively.

Heat exchange between the inlet and outlet streams has been implemented in the PDU, as it is essential for achieving acceptable thermal efficiencies. A simple double-walled tube heat exchanger is installed. The feedstock is flowing through the outer tube (5/4'', Incoloy 825), and the reactor effluent through the inner tube (1/2'' Incoloy 825). In this way, about 7 kW of heat can be exchanged between the reactor in- and outlet.

The reactor tube has an inner diameter of 14 mm, a total length of 15 m, and is made also from Incoloy 825. It is heated externally by a 20 kW natural gas burner. A residence time of 0.5-2 min is probably needed to achieve complete carbon conversion.

The two-phase product stream from the reactor arrives in an HP gas-liquid separator (P = 300bar, T = 25-100 °C) from which the liquid phase is further transferred to a low-pressure (LP) gas liquid separator (P = 1 bar, T = 20 °C). The gas released from the HP is expected to be rich in hydrogen while the LP separator will presumably produce CO<sub>2</sub> rich gas.

The PDU will first be tested for "simple" components like ethanol, or glycerol. Later trials are intended for the more difficult feedstock types like starch, glucose and, eventually, real biomass. Some technical problems still have to be resolved before a dedicated testing program can be started. The occasional results up to now, however, are quite satisfactory. As an example, 2 h continuous operation with a glycerol solution as a feedstock yielded a gas product distribution of approximately 25 vol% H<sub>2</sub>, 15 vol% CH<sub>4</sub>, 30 vol% CO, 15 vol% CO<sub>2</sub> and 15 vol% C<sub>2</sub> and C<sub>3</sub> components. The conversion was 83% for a 5wt% and 60% for a 10 wt% glycerol solution.

### 3. Low-temperature catalytic gasification

In low-temperature catalytic gasification, a temperature range of 350-600 °C is usually employed. Catalysts are applied to enhance the reaction, but complete gasification of feedstock is still difficult. Battelle researchers undertook the

first fundamental study (see Section 3.1 below). Since the reaction temperature is low, catalysts play an important role (see Section 3.2). The reaction mechanism has been studied using model compounds (see Section 3.3). A recent study has led to the discovery of interactions between components (see Section 3.4). In engineering studies the biomass feedstock has been treated both by batch (see Section 3.5) and continuous (see Section 3.6) reactors. In an attempt to improve the carbon gasification efficiency, partial oxidation has been also studied (see Section 3.7).

### 3.1. The Battelle concept—single-step gasification/ methane synthesis

Through the use of a metal catalyst, biomass gasification can be accomplished with high levels of carbon conversion to gas at relatively low temperature. In the pressurized-water environment (21 MPa) at sub-critical temperature (350 °C) neartotal conversion of the organic structure of biomass to gases has been accomplished in the presence of a ruthenium metal catalyst. The process is strictly a steam reforming reaction as there is no added oxidizer or reagent other than water. In addition, the gas produced is a mediumheating-value gas due to the synthesis of highlevels of methane, as dictated by thermodynamic equilibrium. This type of processing has been accomplished at the bench-scale in continuousflow reactor systems.

The Battelle concept [61,62] was developed in early research on biomass gasification mechanisms. The results of batch tests suggested that the advantage of the HP environment with a metal catalyst could compensate in the reaction kinetics for operation at lower temperature [63]. Further studies showed that biomass slurries could be processed in continuous-flow reactors at lowtemperature gasification conditions and still achieve high-conversion at reasonable processing rates [64,65]. More recent results with improved catalyst formulations, as presented below, have now provided a basis to move the processing forward from the bench-scale to a scaled-up reactor system operated at  $6-10 \text{ L h}^{-1}$ .

### 3.2. Review of catalysts

Previous research in low-temperature gasification has shown that new catalyst formulations are required for the pressurized water environment. Only a limited range of catalytic metals can be used in the process because of the oxidation of the metal components in the hot-water environment [66]. In addition, conventional catalyst support materials, such as silica and alumina are also severely degraded in this reaction environment. It is well-known that silica and alumina dissolve in high temperature water [67].

New catalyst formulations for low-temperature gasification include combinations of stable metals, such as ruthenium or nickel bimetallics and stable supports, such as certain titania, zirconia, or carbon. For example, the ruthenium on rutile titania extrudate is particularly effective in this process [68]. The ruthenium is easily reduced to its active form and maintains its activity for long periods of operation. The rutile form of titania is the stable crystalline form of titania at these reaction conditions. Although rutile is the crystalline phase with lower surface area ( $\sim 45 \text{ m}^2 \text{ g}^{-1}$ ), active catalysts with up to 3 wt% ruthenium can be synthesized. Catalysts with up to 7 wt% ruthenium on carbon extrudates have also been shown to be valuable in this processing environment.

Although recovery may be a problem, alkali catalysts have also been employed. Sodium carbonate is effective in increasing the gasification efficiency of cellulose [69]. Likewise, homogeneous, alkali catalysts have been employed for high-temperature supercritical water gasification [70]. The effects of these catalysts on gasification are discussed in the next section in connection with the reaction mechanism.

# 3.3. Fundamental reaction scheme and effect of catalysts

Minowa's group investigated reactions of cellulose and glucose in hot-compressed water to get insight of reaction mechanism of hydrothermal degradation of biomass. They employed an autoclave as a reactor, and ran the reaction in the temperature range from 200 to 350 °C. By running the reaction with and without catalyst, they also studied the effect of catalyst. Reaction products were gas, aqueous phase, oily material (acetone soluble products) and remained solid material (mixture of non-reacted cellulose and char-like material).

In case of catalyst-free condition [30,50,54, 69,71], cellulose was slightly decomposed over 200 °C to produce water-soluble products, which were almost all sugars; no gas, no oil and no char were produced. This indicated that hydrolysis was the primary step. Then cellulose was decomposed sharply around 250 °C to form water-soluble products (not only sugars, but also non-sugar materials), gas, oil and char. Over 300 °C, char production continued, although no cellulose was left in the reactor, and sugars and oil were decomposed. Finally, char was mainly obtained by the yield of 60% on carbon basis with 10% of gas (almost all CO<sub>2</sub> and small amount of CO), and 15% of non-sugar water-soluble products. From these results, they proposed the overall reaction scheme as follows [30,50,54,69,71],



To confirm that hydrolysis is the first step, glucose was used as a starting feedstock [30,50,54,69,71]. The product distribution of gas, oil and char at different reaction temperatures were almost the same as that for cellulose. Thus, the degradation scheme of glucose was known to be almost the same as that of cellulose.

The role of catalyst was examined from the change in the product distribution with or without catalyst. Sodium carbonate was used as alkali catalyst [30,50,54,69,71]. The degradation of cellulose started at 180 °C, showing that alkali catalyst lowered the onset temperature of the cellulose degradation. This is the well-known peeling reaction of carbohydrates [72]. Sodium carbonate also promoted sugar degradation; higher yields of

gas and oil were obtained. In addition, sodium carbonate inhibited the char formation from oil, resulting in high oil yield and low char yield even at high reaction temperature of  $350 \,^{\circ}$ C and long holding time of 1 h.

Metal catalyst is well known to catalyze the gasification, and they used a commercial metal nickel catalyst [30,50,54,69,71]. Onset temperature of cellulose degradation was almost the same as that for catalyst-free condition. Then, the nickel catalyst catalyzed the gasification of water-soluble products, and the obtained gas consisted mainly of CO<sub>2</sub>, H<sub>2</sub> and CH<sub>4</sub>, and no CO. The change of the gas composition showed that CO<sub>2</sub> and H<sub>2</sub> were produced at first, and then CH<sub>4</sub> was formed by methanation. Oil and char yields were minimal. In case of changing the nickel catalyst loading, the gas yield increased linearly with the catalyst loading, and oil and char were also produced [30,50,54,69,71]. To confirm that gasification of oily materials did not occur, the oil produced at 300°C was collected, put back into the autoclave, and treated under the same condition of glucose gasification. Then the resulting gas production was minimal. From these observations, it was found that water-soluble compounds produced both gas and oily materials and that oily materials once produced were not gasified any more. This supports the competitive reaction mechanism for water-soluble products shown by Eq. (1).

#### 3.4. Interaction between components

The New Energy Development Organization (NEDO), Japan, supported a research project on supercritical water biomass gasification by the University of Tokyo, the Tokyo Gas Chemical Co., and Shinshu University, for 3 years (FY1998-2000) [73]. The purpose of this project was threefold: (1) development of hydrothermal pre-treatments for feedstock delivery to the HP reactor (see Section 5.1); (2) determination of the effect of partial oxidation so that higher gasification efficiency can be obtained at temperatures near 400 °C (see Section 3.7); and (3) development of effective catalysts to produce methanol from the product gas (not shown in this paper). As a part of this project, the interaction between biomass

components are studied, which is presented in this section.

Yoshida and Matsumura [74] were interested in how each component of biomass: cellulose, hemicellulose, and lignin behaved during supercritical water gasification. Thus, they treated cellulose, xylan (model compound for hemicellulose), and organosolv lignin with a nickel catalyst in supercritical water using a 4-mL tubing bomb reactor. Afterwards they studied the interaction of these compounds by mixing them in specific ratios and treating them in supercritical water with catalyst under similar conditions. Figs. 3-5 show the behavior of the product gas for the mixture. In these figures, values at null or unity of any compound show the result of treating the pure component. If there were no interaction between the components, data for the mixture should fall on a straight line tying the value at null and unity, which is shown as a dashed line in the figures. The result for treating a mixture of cellulose and hemicellulose falls on this line, indicating the behavior of these two components is summative. On the contrary, a large deviation from the straight line is observed for mixture of lignin and cellulose and that of lignin and hemicellulose. This behavior is clear for production of hydrogen and methane. Thus, it is indicated that when lignin is present, the production of hydrogen is suppressed.



Fig. 3. Product from supercritical water gasification of cellulose-lignin mixture.



Fig. 4. Product from supercritical water gasification of xylan–lignin mixture.



Fig. 5. Product from supercritical water gasification of cellulose-xylan mixture.

In the following article [75] Yoshida and his coworkers showed that this effect depends on the species of lignin. This result reveals the importance of component interaction in the course of supercritical water gasification.

### 3.5. Review of recent batch biomass results

Batch processing tests have been performed to provide comparative low-temperature gasification

results with different biomass feedstocks and improved catalysts. The reactor was a stirred, 1-L vessel. The feedstocks tested ranged from fermentation ethanol beverage distillation residue to dairy cattle manure solids. The biomass feedstocks were all high-moisture materials that can benefit by use in a gasification process wherein the biomass does not need to be dried. The feedstocks tested also included residues from biorefinery-type operations in which useful components, such as starch or hemicellulose were first recovered from the biomass and the residue was then processed in the low-temperature gasification. The results for 10 wt% dry solids slurries processed for 4h at temperature are shown in Fig. 6.

The feedstocks shown in Fig. 6 are described in more detail as follows:

WSU manure #2 = dairy cattle manure solids recovered by screening at Washington State University, Pullman, Washington.

deStarched Corn Fiber = corn fiber from Archer Daniels Midland Company, Decatur, Illinois, corn wet mill, processed with hot water at PNNL (Pacific Northwest National Laboratory).

deStarched Millfeed = wheat millfeed from Pendleton Flour Mills, Pendleton, Oregon, processed with hot water at PNNL.

DDG, MGP = Distiller's Dried Grain from Midwest Grain Products, Atchison, Kansas

NREL SSF resid = simultaneous saccharification and ethanol fermentation residue from corn stover from the National Renewable Energy Laboratory, Golden, Colorado.

Washed TVA resid = acid hydrolysis of wood residue from the Tennessee Valley Authority, Muscle Shoals, Alabama, washed with water at PNNL.

BCI wood resid = residue from ethanol fermentation of hydrolyzed wood from BCI Jennings, Louisiana.

The catalysts shown in Fig. 6 are described in more detail as follows:

Ru/TiO2 = 3 wt% ruthenium on rutile titania extrudates produced by Degussa.

Ru/C = 7 wt% ruthenium on carbon produced by Engelhard.



Fig. 6. Gasification results with different biomass feedstocks and catalysts.

Ru/Ni = 1 wt% ruthenium on G1-80 nickel methanation catalyst by BASF.

Cu/Ni = 1 wt% copper on G1-80 nickel methanation catalyst by BASF.

The batch reactor test results show a range of reactivity of the feedstocks in the presence of the various catalysts. Without catalyst the gasification is limited. The ruthenium on titania catalyst (with much lower metal loading) exhibits much lower activity relative to the ruthenium on carbon catalyst. Considering the experimental variability, the two stabilized nickel catalysts appear to be nearly equivalent, at a level of activity intermediate to the two ruthenium catalysts. The comparison of the several feedstocks using the Ru/Ni catalyst shows the highest reactivity with the manure solids followed by the lightly processed grains. The more severely processed lignocellulosic feedstocks showed lower activity as a group. The effect of temperature is obvious, but there is no dramatic effect noticeable at the supercritical point of water (374 °C).

### 3.6. Review of bench-scale continuous reactor results

Bench-scale processing in a continuous-flow reactor was also accomplished for some of these combinations of feedstock and catalyst. The bench-scale reactor system included a combination of a continuous-flow stirred tank (CSTR) serving as a preheater and a tubular reactor with a fixed catalyst bed. Biomass slurry was fed to the reactor by a progressing cavity (Moyno) pump/reciprocating pump combination. The addition to the existing bench-scale reactor system of both the CSTR and the Moyno pump resulted from difficulties in feeding biomass slurries. Results for manure solids processing (3.5% dry solids content) at 350°C and 21 MPa with a Ni and Ru combined catalyst bed are shown in Fig. 7. High conversion of organics to a gas with a high level of methane was noted for a range of space velocities. At a 2.1 Liquid Hourly Space Velocity (LHSV = L-feedslurry  $(L-catalyst)^{-1}h^{-1}$ , the chemical oxygen demand (COD) was reduced from  $47,000 \text{ g L}^{-1}$  in



Fig. 7. Gasification of manure  $(350 \,^{\circ}C, 21 \,\text{MPa}, \text{Ru} \text{ and Ni} \text{ combined catalyst beds}).$ 

the feed slurry to  $143 \text{ g L}^{-1}$  in the effluent. The product yield was  $0.76 \text{ g L}^{-1}$  manure solids of a medium calorific value gas (23.6 MJ m<sup>-3</sup> in HHV).

### 3.7. Effect of partial oxidation

Partial oxidation is a common conventional gasification technology [76]. It is expected that partial oxidation will enhance the gasification efficiency even for supercritical water gasification. Matsumura's group tested the effect of partial oxidation on supercritical water gasification [77,78]. They supplied a mixture of hydrogen peroxide and glucose solution, and a mixture of hydrogen peroxide and cabbage slurry prepared as in Section 5.1 to the supercritical water gasification reactor. The reaction temperature ranged from 400 °C, and the pressure employed was 25 MPa. They successfully improved the gasification efficiency by adding hydrogen peroxide, but the cold gas efficiency decreased when the hydrogen peroxide concentration was too high. The maximum cold gas efficiency of 0.87 was obtained with a 2.5 wt% hydrogen peroxide and 6 wt% cabbage slurry mixture.

### 4. High-temperature supercritical water gasification

In high-temperature, supercritical-water gasification, a temperature range of 500-800 °C is employed. Due to the high reactivity of biomass at these temperatures, high gasification efficiency is possible; but as the concentration of the organic feedstock increases, the gasification efficiency falls. Gasification was studied using single compounds that are soluble in water (see Section 4.1). This approach relieves difficulties associated with feedstock delivery. Then several biomass feedstocks, including baby-food (as standardized biomass of very reproducible composition), sawdust, potato waste, and sewage sludge were tested (see Section 4.2); elucidating the effect of operating conditions. To improve the gasification efficiency, a two-stage gasification procedure was studied, where the biomass was first solubilized, and then gasified (see Section 4.3). The application of metal oxide catalyst was also reported recently (see Section 4.4).

### 4.1. Treatment of single chemical compounds

# 4.1.1. Reactions without catalyst: glycerol and glucose

Researchers of the University of Twente investigated gasification of glycerol and glucose without addition of catalytic material using a high-throughput capillary technique (see also Section 2.2). Over 200 experiments were carried out, during which the following parameters were varied: (i) reaction temperature  $(500-800 \,^{\circ}\text{C})$ , (ii) pressure  $(5-45 \,\text{MPa})$  and (iii) concentration  $(1-20 \,\text{wt}\%)$ .

The influence of these different process parameters on the gas-phase product composition and the gasification efficiency was analyzed on basis of the detected gas products. Figs. 8 and 9 show typical results for glycerol and glucose. Figs. 8(a) and 9(a), and Figs. 8(d) and 9(d), show the influence of the reaction temperature on the gas composition and the conversion of carbon in the feed to carbon in the gas products (respectively). Below temperatures of 600 °C, very low carbon conversions (gasification efficiency) were found



Fig. 8. Glycerol tests: (a) gas yield versus the temperature for 1 wt% solution and 350 bar, (b) gas yield versus pressure for 9.1 wt% solution and 650 °C, (c) gas yield versus the concentration for 350 bar and 725 °C, (d) carbon efficiency (carbon in gas/carbon in glycerol) for different concentrations as function of the temperature at 350 bar.

and dark brown liquid and solid products were clearly visible in the capillaries. Above 600 °C the gasification efficiency steadily increases to asymptotic values around 700 °C (see Figs. 8(d) and 9(d)). Complete carbon conversion to the gasphase (100% gasification efficiency) was achieved only with very small concentrations (c < 3 wt%)(see Fig. 9(d)). Upon increasing the reaction temperature above 650  $^{\circ}$ C, the yields of H<sub>2</sub> and  $CO_2$  sharply increase, while the yield of COdecreases (see Figs. 8(a) and 9(a)) and the gasification efficiency (see Figs. 8(d) and 9(d)) remains more or less constant. These observed trends indicate strong(er) water-gas shift activity above 650 °C. The methane yield is not affected by the process temperature and the concentration that much.

Much to our surprise it turned out that process pressure has hardly any influence on both the product gas composition (see Figs. 8(b) and 9(b)) and the gasification efficiency (not shown here) in a very wide range of pressures including supercritical as well as subcritical conditions (5-45 MPa).

The concentration of the organic feedstock exerts a major limitation on the process. Concentrations higher than 5-10 wt% lead to a significant drop of the hydrogen yield (see Figs. 8(c)) and carbon gasification efficiency (not shown here).

#### 4.1.2. Reaction under the influence of catalyst

The University of Hawaii was the first to report studies of the supercritical water gasification of model compounds at high temperatures of 500–600 °C. They intended to conduct gasification of biomass without catalyst using metallic tubular flow reactors. However, with glucose as a feedstock they found that the gasification efficiency



GLUCOSE

Fig. 9. Glucose tests: (a) gas yield versus the temperature for 10 wt% solution and 300 bar, (b) gas yield versus pressure for 10 wt% solution and 650 °C, (c) gas yield versus the concentration for 300 bar and 700 °C, (d) carbon efficiency for different concentrations as function of the temperature at 300 bar.

was affected by the reactor wall material [35]. Later this finding was supported by Lee et al. [79] They pretreated the reactor with sodium chloride to obtain a catalytic effect from the wall. They also measured the temperature distribution along the reactor, and found that at lower temperatures an endothermic reaction took place all along the reactor, while at higher reactor showed endothermic behavior while latter portion exhibited exothermic phenomena [80].

Researchers at the University of Hawaii also employed carbonaceous catalysts to attain complete gasification of a 20 wt% of glucose solution. In the same work they studied the gasification of single chemical compounds such as acetic acid, phenol, benzene, methanol, and glycerol [36]. Although complete gasification was not always possible, carbonaceous catalysts were found effective for all the compounds tested. It is known that carbon reacts with water at high temperature and pressure. However, the rate of this reaction was found to be sufficiently slow under typical supercritical water gasification [81,82].

### 4.2. Treatment of biomass compounds

# 4.2.1. Results of the conversion of model biomass (baby food) in near- and supercritical water

In addition to investigations of model compounds like glucose or cellulose also scientific studies with real biomass are needed. This biomass must be available in reproducible composition and consistency for years in order to be able to perform all the studies and to have a standard to be compared with other biomass. This standard biomass must have a composition similar to potential feedstocks like residues from the food industry, and it must be a very fine and homogenous sludge to be handled in lab-scale plants. The Karlsruhe group found this standard biomass; it is baby food (by the company Hipp) consisting mainly of cooked potatoes and carrots [83]. This model biomass consists nearly completely of carbohydrates, has a water content of 89.2 wt% and  $6.2 \text{ g kg}^{-1}$  ash content (mainly K, Na salts).

4.2.1.1. Identified products and description of the reaction by the choice of "key compounds". The experiments described here with this model biomass were performed in two different devices, a tumbling batch reactor (up to 500 °C and 50 MPa, 1-L internal volume [84]) and a stirred vessel (up to 700 °C and 100 MPa, 0.190-L internal volume [83,84]), the second reactor can be used in continuous or batch mode. In both modes of the stirred vessel, the unheated biomass was injected into heated water or into the hot mixture and the biomass was immediately heated up by mixing. The tumbling batch reactor was used with a rather low heating rate of 1 or 3 K min<sup>-1</sup> from room temperature to 500 °C.

It was nearly impossible to quantify or even identify all substances formed during conversion of biomass; therefore we used selected compounds, called key compounds as representatives of different reaction pathways. These key compounds are known from experiments with model compounds and belong to the following chemical groups: sugars, aldehydes, acids, furfurals, phenols and gases [83]. The fact, that the key compounds can be found in experiments with model compounds as well as biomass, and that these key compounds show the same dependencies, e.g. concerning a change in temperature, opens the opportunity to "learn" something about the chemistry with model compounds and apply this knowledge for biomass conversion.

4.2.1.2. Role of alkali salts during biomass gasification. Studies of the conversion of model substances like glucose and pyrocatechol [70] show a significant influence of salts like KOH, KHCO<sub>3</sub> and  $K_2CO_3$  on the product formation (see also Section 3.3). The addition of these salts leads to an increase in hydrogen and a decrease in CO yield by acceleration of the water-gas shift reaction [85]. Experiments in the tumbling reactor show that the presence of  $KHCO_3$  leads additionally to an increased amount of products in the aqueous mixture (measured as total organic carbon), less coke/char formation, a lower concentration of furfurals and a higher concentration of phenols [86]. It has to be pointed out that salts influence a lot of reaction steps and that whenever experiments with model compounds are performed to study biomass conversion, it has to be considered, that real biomass includes salts and therefore leads to a similar gas composition like glucose with alkali salt, which means high hydrogen yields and very low yields of CO [87].

4.2.1.3. Change of product composition as function of temperature and the heating rate. The temperature dependence of biomass conversion is strongly connected with the effect of the heating rate on the reaction. Slow heating up leads to the formation of coke/char, therefore we found coke/ char after every reaction in the tumbling reactor and never in the stirred vessel. In the tumbling reactor a decrease in heating rate leads to a decrease of hydrogen yield [84].

Experiments in the stirred vessel at different temperatures show a rather high yield of furfurals and low gas yields below the critical point of water. Above the critical point the gas yield increases and the yield of furfurals is much lower [83]. This can be explained by a change of the main reaction mechanism from ionic in the subcritical to free radical in the supercritical region. This change is described in detail for the glycerol degradation [88]. Here might be one explanation for the formation of coke at low heating rates: When the biomass water mixtures spends enough time at subcritical temperatures, furfurals or other unsaturated compounds are formed in significant yields that may polymerize when free radicals are formed above the critical temperature. This is, of course, only one possible explanation; and additional studies are still necessary.

It has to be pointed out that the yield of phenols increases with temperature [89]—phenols are the only chemical species in aqueous solution, whose yield increases with temperature. The degradation rate of phenols is slower than that of e.g. furfurals; therefore we regard phenols as the "last hurdle for complete gasification".

4.2.1.4. Influence of feed dry matter content. The dependence of the gasification yield on the dry matter content or carbon input is of special interest; the more hydrogen that can be produced from 1 kg biomass, the lower the production price of hydrogen will be.

In the tumbling reactor the researchers at Karlsruhe confirmed what was found at the University of Hawaii (see Section 4.1.2) and at the research center in Karlsruhe in experiments with model compounds in a tubular reactor [70,87]: with increasing dry matter content or carbon input lower gasification efficiencies were found. In the stirred vessel, in contrast, an increased gasification rate at increased dry matter content was found. Thus, two different effects of feed dry matter content were observed depending on what kind of reactor was used. Since the characteristics of the stirred vessel reactor was its fast heating-up and the back-mixing of the products, these characteristics may be the reason for the higher gasification efficiency at higher feed dry matter content, which was observed for the stirred vessel. However, the detail has not been completely understood now. One possible explanation could be, that because of the back-mixing active hydrogen is present in all steps of biomass degradation, which may lead to an inhibition of the unwanted polymerization via saturation of free radicals. This would lead to a preference of small intermediates, which means less coke or tar, and high gas yields.

In both reactors, the relative yield of phenols increases with dry matter content of the biomass [84].

4.2.1.5. Consequences. The presence of minerals in biomass has a significant effect on the gasification properties of the biomass. Experiments with glucose leads to completely different results than experiments with biomass, here the standardized biomass baby food. On the other hand experiments with glucose and alkali are comparable with gasification results with the cellulose biomass used. Alkali metals influence the reaction pathways of biomass degradation e.g. the presence of alkali decreases coke formation and increases hydrogen yield, which means that in the technical process the alkali content of the feed biomass is an important factor. The alkali content of biomass feedstock should not be too low in order to get high hydrogen yields. Alkali in biomass can also be disadvantageous, because they can cause plugging but this depends very much on the design of the reactor and concentration of the alkali.

The differences found in various reactor types give hints for the chemistry of biomass degradation and optimization of the process. High heating rate and a reductive atmosphere because of the presence of hydrogen also in the early stages of biomass degradation, like in the CSTR experiments, seem to be advantageous by avoiding unwanted polymerization reaction e.g. coke formation. Currently, a combination of a CSTR and a tubular reactor is under construction at Karlsruhe. Here the advantages of the CSTR should be combined with a second reactor to gasify relative stable compounds like phenols and to reach very high conversions.

### 4.2.2. Sawdust

University of Hawaii researchers succeeded in continuous gasification of sawdust in supercritical water [90]. Sawdust itself is dry feedstock, and probably will not be suitable for supercritical water gasification since conventional gasification processes should be easier and cheaper than supercritical water gasification. However, delivery of this powder feedstock into a supercritical water reactor is a challenge. Furthermore, this work served to demonstrate the possibility of supercritical water gasification with a realistic feedstock containing lignin. The sawdust was suspended in a dilute starch gel for delivery to the reactor (see Section 5.1). When gasification was conducted at temperatures as high as 650 °C, complete gasification was observed. This temperature is about 100 °C higher than was needed for glucose at the same concentration. Nevertheless, this result indicates complete gasification of wood is possible.

### 4.2.3. Potato waste

The University of Hawaii researcher identified potato waste as a desirable feedstock for supercritical water gasification, and succeeded in demonstrating complete and continuous gasification [91]. Potato waste is produced in large amount by the fast food industry (e.g. McDonalds) and needed no pretreatment. Reactor plugging was observed in the heatup section of their reactor. Depressurizing the reactor, and delivering air from the other end of the reactor successfully removed the carbonaceous product that plugged the reactor. Thus, the reactor was operated in an intermittent manner.

#### 4.3. NEDO supercritical methanation

With NEDO sponsorship the Japan Gas Association undertook an investigation of methane production by supercritical water gasification. Their idea was to solubilize an organic waste feedstock by hydrothermal treatment, and then remove sulfur so that a proprietary metal catalyst-used in the following supercritical water gasification step-would not be poisoned. However, deactivation of the metal catalyst quickly took place in the presence of several ppm of sulfur. It was also found that the presence of salt also damaged the catalyst [92]. They used sewage sludge as target feedstock, and ran a continuous reactor, but found reactor plugging to take place due to the high ash content of the sludge. This result implies the necessity of effective ash removal prior to gasification.

### 4.4. Metal oxide catalysts

Because alkali catalysts (e.g. sodium carbonate and potassium hydroxide) are difficult to recover from the reactor's effluent, Watanabe et al. tested the ability of a zirconia catalyst to improve the gasification of glucose and cellulose in supercritical water. Unfortunately, the effect of the zirconia catalyst was not as strong as sodium carbonate, but it did double the gasification efficiency [93]. Similar results were obtained for partial oxidative gasification of lignin [94].

# 5. Engineering of supercritical/subcritical water gasification processes

Supercritical/subcritical water technologies are in their infancy with only a few exceptions. Unit operations that are well established for operation at atmospheric pressure are rarely applicable to supercritical water gasification. Even the delivery of feedstock to the reactor is a difficult task when the temperature and pressure of the reactor are at a supercritical condition. Although these operations are not usually the target of a research paper, an overview of the knowledge of each unit operation should be helpful for technology development, and future research activity in this field.

### 5.1. Feedstock pretreatment

Often the delivery of biomass to an HP reactor is a technological challenge. Because supercritical water gasification is a reaction in "water", the feedstock is delivered to the reactor with water, resulting in a continuous feeding of slurry or an aqueous solution. However, if the biomass has low moisture content or if it readily absorbs water and leaves only a small amount of "free water", conventional pulverization of the feedstock is insufficient and pretreatment of the feedstock is necessary.

One answer to this problem is to increase viscosity of the slurry. Antal's group succeeded in feeding sawdust continuously by suspending it in a starch gel [90], and delivering the sawdust laden starch gel to the reactor via a "cement pump". Matsumura's group used a hydrothermal pretreatment to successfully deliver cabbage, a model material for herbaceous biomass. It had been observed that treatment in hot compressed water results in softening of the hard structure of herbaceous biomass, as is observed when making a soup in the kitchen. When the temperature and pressure are higher, the effect of this "softening" is larger. This approach was employed successfully as a pretreatment for methane fermentation [95–98]. Matsumura's group used this technology successfully to pre-treat and gasify a cabbage slurry [99]. They fabricated a continuous reactor



Fig. 10. Relation between flow rate and pressure loss for cabbage and liquidized products.



Fig. 11. Carbon gasification conversion of cabbage and its liquidized products (Reprinted from [99] with permission from the Japan Institute of Energy).

for this pretreatment where a slurry pump continuously fed pulverized cabbage to a reactor equipped with a scraper. The temperature in the reactor was 150-200 °C, and residence time was set at around 30 min. The apparent viscosity of the product slurry is shown Fig. 10. The product slurry was only 10 times as viscous as water, and thus easily delivered to the reactor, while pulverized cabbage plugged the line and even a viscosity measurement was not possible. Component analysis and SEM observation suggested that hemicellulose dissolved in water, and thus the structure of the cell was destroyed. The gasification characteristics of the product slurry were also measured using a micro-reactor (see Fig. 11). Treatment at 150 °C resulted in enhancement of gasification rate and efficiency, while treatment at 200 °C showed reverse effect, indicating the existence of an optimum temperature for this pretreatment.

### 5.2. Heat recovery unit

It has been mentioned already that heat recovery is essential for SCWG gasification process to be energy-productive. The enthalpy of water at reaction conditions is such that without recovery, heat needed for supercritical water gasification cannot be supplied by the heating value of the feedstock. In other words, from heat balance considerations it is clear that heat exchange between the reactor effluent and the reactor feed is essential for the economics of the process. For supercritical operation, it is desirable to heat the feed to approximately 450 °C in this heat exchanger. In this temperature range biomass in the feed has already finished its decomposition, yielding, primarily, char and tar, as was indicated by capillary experiments. Hence, in a regular shell and tube heat exchanger, blockage and fouling problems are expected. Also, to keep the heat exchanger clean, a particulate system may be interesting. As one of the many possible alternatives, we present here an integrated fluidized bed reactor/heat exchanger system (see Fig. 12). This system combines the advantages of a fluidized bed reactor with concept of particulate heat exchange by using the solids circulation loop of the reactor for this purpose. For more details see [100].

Another important aspect of heat recovery is quick heat-up of the feedstock. Xu et al. found that improving heat transfer in the heating section of the feedstock delays deactivation of catalyst, implying the suppression of tar production [36]. Matsumura's group changed the heating rate of the feedstock and obtained data that indicates a heating rate of several hundreds of degrees Kelvin per minute should be desirable for this purpose [101].

These two requirements, namely, high efficiency of heat recovery and quick heating of the feedstock should be considered in designing the heating-up section.



Fig. 12. A possible reactor/heat exchanger configuration for the SWG process.

### 5.3. Depressurization system

Depressurization of the effluent is conducted following the heat exchanger. Conventional backpressure regulators are sufficient for this purpose. However, ash and (possibly) solid particles may damage the system; consequently a metal filter should be located before the regulator. Another possibility is the use of capillary tubing that should be effective for the effluent flow with particles.

#### 5.4. Gas recovery

Product gas automatically separates from the liquid phase following the heat exchanger. All tarry materials and char, if any, remain in the liquid phase, and a completely tar free product gas is available, as it is essentially a water-scrubbed product. This is an advantage of supercritical water gasification over conventional gasification processes. Thus, it is expected that product gas may be fed to gas engines or gas turbines without any treatment. To remove carbon dioxide to raise the heating value of the product gas, separation of gas and liquid before depressurization is effective [102]. The effectiveness depends on the feed

concentration and gasification efficiency. Sometimes, when the amount of carbon dioxide to be removed is large, additional water is needed to absorb the carbon dioxide.

# 6. Advantages and possibilities of near- and supercritical water gasification

Although SCWG is a totally new concept it has, in the present stage of consideration, a number of very interesting aspects (see Fig. 13).

In the first place, the process is suitable to process *very wet* feedstock like for instance algae or water hyacinth. In fact, any agricultural or industrial waste streams can be utilized, provided that its value is low enough to allow economic conversion in the HP/high-temperature SCWG process.

Secondly, it is important to note that the products of SCWG will be available at high pressure, which is practically always needed for any further use.

Thirdly, in case a catalyst or a secondary shift reactor is applied to convert the CO in the product gas, the product will exclusively contain  $H_2$ ,  $CH_4$ 



Fig. 13. Scheme for application outlets of SCWG.

and  $CO_2$ . Because of its relatively high concentration, it is quite interesting to consider  $CO_2$  sequestration for underground storage.

In the fourth place, mixtures of  $H_2$  and  $CH_4$  are on a short to medium term applicable to mix into any distribution network for natural gas and make it partially green. In The Netherlands, this cofeeding application has a huge potential because of the large scale of natural gas utilization.

Last but not least, hydrogen from SCWG can be used for fuel cell applications, in which case the  $CH_4$  and any other hydrocarbons should be converted in a secondary reformer. Upgrading steps like water-gas shift and steam reforming are known technologies and are not expected to hinder the development of that particular application seriously.

### 7. Concluding remarks

SCWG may become an important technology for converting wet biomass or organic waste to a pressurized and clean medium caloric value gas with high hydrogen content. Technical hurdles are not yet solved completely but significant progress has been made through experimentation with a variety of equipment, including millimeter sized quartz capillaries, bench-scale laboratory set-ups, and fully automated pilot-plants. For continuously operated plants, unusual process and reactor technology will be required to cope with fouling and necessary heating rates. At present, wet biomass species are gasified by methane fermentation. A recent paper compared the process cost, energy efficiency, and carbon dioxide emissions of these two approaches to wet biomass gasification [103]. Considering the costs of treating wastewater and fermentation sludge, supercritical water gasification can be competitive with biomethanation.

### Acknowledgments

The recent progress in R&D has been achieved on the basis of financial support by the Japanese NEDO and, in a later stage, the European Commission. The research at the Pacific Northwest National Laboratory is funded by the Office of the Biomass Program in the US Department of Energy. It appears that all active players in the field have joined to push the technology to the demonstration phase. A working group has been established with participants from the USA, Japan and Europe who will meet every year to exchange ideas and share the results of investigations. This collaboration may be the key to success. The first supercritical water biomass gasification workshop was held in Honolulu (Hawaii, USA, January 2002). The second workshop was held in Higashihiroshima (Japan, February 2003). The third workshop was held in San Francisco during the AIChE 2003 Annual Meeting (USA, November 2003), and during the Second World Conference and Exhibition on Biomass that was held in May 2004 in Rome, a fourth workshop was organized.

### References

- Antal MJ. Tower power: producing fuels from solar energy. In: Williams RH, editor. Toward a solar civilization. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press; 1978. p. 80–4.
- [2] Antal MJ. Synthesis gas production from organic wastes by pyrolysis/steam reforming. In: Klass DL, editor. Energy from biomass and wastes. Chicago, IL: I.G.T; 1978. p. 495–524.
- [3] Van Hook JP. Methane-steam reforming. Catalysis Reviews-Science and Engineering 1980;21:1–51.
- [4] Xu J, Froment GF. Methane steam reforming, methanation and water-gas shift: I. Intrinsic kinetics. A.I.Ch.E. Journal 1989;35:88–96.
- [5] Xu J, Froment GF. Methane steam reforming: II. Diffusional limitations and reactor simulation. A.I.Ch.E. Journal 1989;35:97–103.
- [6] Wagner ES, Froment GF. Steam reforming analyzed. Hydrocarbon processing. 1992. p. 69–77.
- [7] Antal MJ, Friedman HL, Rogers FE. Kinetics of cellulose pyrolysis in nitrogen and steam. Combustion Science and Technology 1980;21:141–52.
- [8] Mok WSL, Antal MJ. Effects of pressure on biomass pyrolysis. II. Heats of reaction of cellulose pyrolysis. Thermochimica Acta 1983;68:165–86.
- [9] Mok WSL. The effects of pressure on biomass pyrolysis and gasification. MSE Thesis, Princeton University, 1983.
- [10] Antal MJ. Biomass pyrolysis. Part 1: carbohydrate pyrolysis. In: Boer KW, Duffie JA, editors. Solar energy. Plenum Press: New York; 1982. p. 61–111.
- [11] Antal MJ. The effects of reactor severity on the gas phase pyrolysis of cellulose and kraft lignin derived volatile matter. Industrial and Engineering Chemistry Research 1983;22:366–75.
- [12] Antal MJ. Biomass pyrolysis. Part 2: lignocellulose pyrolysis. In: Boer KW, Duffie JA, editors. Solar energy. Plenum Press: New York; 1985. p. 175–255.
- [13] Antal MJ. A review of the vapor phase pyrolysis of biomass derived volatile matter. In: Overend RP Milne TA, Mudge LK, editors. Fundamentals of thermochemical biomass conversion. Elsevier: New York; 1985. p. 511–37.
- [14] Herguido J, Corella J, Gonzalez-Saiz J. Steam gasification of lignocellulosic residues in a fluidized bed at a small pilot scale. Effect of the type of feedstock. Industrial and Engineering Chemistry Research 1992;31:1274–82.
- [15] Delgado J, Aznar MP, Corella J. Biomass gasification with steam in fluidized bed: effectiveness of CaO, MgO, and CaO–MgO for hot raw gas cleaning. Industrial and Engineering Chemistry Research 1997;36:1535–43.
- [16] Bridgwater AV. The technical and economic feasibility of biomass gasification for power generation. Fuel 1995;74: 631–53.
- [17] Modell M. Gasification and liquefaction of forest products in supercritical water. In: Overend RP, Milne TA, Mudge LK, editors. Fundamentals of thermochemi-

cal biomass conversion. Elsevier: London; 1985. p. 95–119.

- [18] Antal MJ, Varhegyi G. Cellulose pyrolysis kinetics: the current state of knowledge. Industrial and Engineering Chemistry Research 1995;34:703–17.
- [19] Antal MJ, Varhegyi G, Jakab E. Cellulose pyrolysis kinetics: revisited. Industrial and Engineering Chemistry Research 1998;37:1267–75.
- [20] Grønli M, Varhegyi G, Antal Jr MJ. A round Robin study of cellulose pyrolysis kinetics by thermogravimetry. Industrial and Engineering Chemistry Research 1999;38: 2238–44.
- [21] Mok WSL, Antal MJ. Uncatalyzed solvolysis of whole biomass hemicellulose by hot compressed liquid water. Industrial and Engineering Chemistry Research 1992;31: 1157–61.
- [22] Antal MJ, Leesonboom T, Mok WS, Richards GN. Mechanism of formation of 2-furaldehyde from D-xylose. Carbohydrate Research 1991;217:71–85.
- [23] Antal MJ, Mok WS, Richards GN. Four-carbon model compounds for the reactions of sugars in water at high temperature. Carbohydrate Research 1990;199:111–5.
- [24] Antal MJ, Mok WS, Richards GN. Mechanism of formation of 5-(hydroxymethyl)-2-furaldehyde from p-fructose and sucrose. Carbohydrate Research 1990;199: 91–109.
- [25] Bobleter O. Hydrothermal degradation of polymers derived from plants. Progress in Polymer Science 1994; 19:797–841.
- [26] Holgate HR, Meyer JC, Tester JW. Glucose hydrolysis and oxidation in supercritical water. A.I.Ch.E. Journal 1995;41:637–48.
- [27] Kabyemela BM, Adschiri T, Malaluan R, Arai K. Degradation kinetics of dihydroxyacetone and glyceraldehyde in subcritical and supercritical water. Industrial and Engineering Chemistry Research 1997;36:2025–30.
- [28] Kabyemela BM, Adschiri T, Malaluan RM, Arai K. Kinetics of glucose epimerization and decomposition in subcritical and supercritical water. Industrial and Engineering Chemistry Research 1997;36:1552–8.
- [29] Kabyemela BM, Takigawa M, Adschiri T, Malaluan RM, Arai K. Mechanism and kinetics of cellobiose decomposition in sub- and supercritical water. Industrial and Engineering Chemistry Research 1998;37:357–61.
- [30] Minowa T, Fang Z, Ogi T, Varhegyi G. Decomposition of cellulose and glucose in hot-compressed water under catalyst-free conditions. Journal of Chemical Engineering of Japan 1998;31(1):131–4.
- [31] Kabyemela BM, Adschiri T, Malaluan RM, Arai K. Glucose and fructose decomposition in subcritical and supercritical water: detailed reaction pathway, mechanisms, and kinetics. Industrial and Engineering Chemistry Research 1999;38:2888–95.
- [32] Boocock DGB, Sherman KM. Further aspects of powdered poplar wood liquefaction by aqueous pyrolysis. Canadian Journal of Chemical Engineering 1985;63: 627–33.

- [33] Jakab E, Liu K, Meuzelaar HLC. Thermal decomposition of wood and cellulose in the presence of solvent vapors. Industrial and Engineering Chemistry Research 1997;36:2087–95.
- [34] Manarungson S, Mok WSL, Antal MJ. Hydrogen production by steam reforming glucose in supercritical water. In: Bridgwater AV, editor. Advances in thermochemical biomass conversion, in advances in thermochemical biomass conversion. Blackie Academic & Professional: London; 1993. p. 1367–77.
- [35] Yu D, Aihara M, Antal Jr MJ. Hydrogen production by steam reforming glucose in supercritical water. Energy Fuels 1993;7:574–7.
- [36] Xu X, Matsumura Y, Stenberg J, Antal Jr MJ. Carboncatalyzed gasification of organic feedstocks in supercritical water. Industrial and Engineering Chemistry Research 1996;35:2522–30.
- [37] Corte P, Lacoste C, Traverse JP. Gasification and catalytic conversion of biomass by flash pyrolysis. Journal of Analytical and Applied Pyrolysis 1985;7: 323–35.
- [38] Aznar MP, Corella J, Delgado J, Lahoz J. Improved steam gasification of lignocellulosic residues in a fluidized bed with commercial steam reforming catalysts. Industrial and Engineering Chemistry Research 1993;32:1–10.
- [39] Bridgwater AV. Catalysis in thermal biomass conversion. Applied Catalysis A: General 1994;116:5–47.
- [40] Sealock Jr LJ, Elliott DC, Baker EG, Fassbender AG, Silva LJ. Chemical processing in high-pressure aqueous environments. 5. New processing concepts. Industrial and Engineering Chemistry Research 1996;35(11):4111–8.
- [41] Bangala DN, Abatzoglou N, Martin J-P, Chornet E. Catalytic gas conditioning: application to biomass and waste gasification. Industrial and Engineering Chemistry Research 1997;36:4184–92.
- [42] Arauzo J, Radlein D, Piskorz J, Scott DS. Catalytic pyrogasification of biomass. Evaluation of modified nickel catalysts. Industrial and Engineering Chemistry Research 1997;36:67–75.
- [43] Caballero MA, Aznar MP, Gil J, Martin JA, Frances E, Corella J. Commercial steam reforming catalysts to improve biomass gasification with steam–oxygen mixtures. 1. Hot gas upgrading by the catalytic reactor. Industrial and Engineering Chemistry Research 1997; 36:5227–39.
- [44] Narvaez I, Corella J, Orio A. Fresh tar (from a biomass gasifier) elimination over a commercial steam-reforming catalyst. Kinetics and effect of different variables of operation. Industrial and Engineering Chemistry Research 1997;36:317–27.
- [45] Koningen J, Sjostrom K. Sulfur-deactivated steam reforming of gasified biomass. Industrial and Engineering Chemistry Research 1998;37:341–6.
- [46] Wang D, Czernik S, Chornet E. Production of hydrogen from biomass by catalytic steam reforming of fast pyrolysis oils. Energy Fuels 1998;12(1):19–24.

- [47] Aznar MP, Caballero MA, Gil J, Martin JA, Corella J. Commercial steam reforming catalysts to improve biomass gasification with steam–oxygen mixtures. 2. Catalytic tar removal. Industrial and Engineering Chemistry Research 1998;37:2668–80.
- [48] Garcia L, Salvador ML, Bilbao R, Arauzo J. Influence of calcination and reduction conditions on the catalyst performance in the pyrolysis process of biomass. Energy Fuels 1998;12:139–43.
- [49] Garcia L, Salvador ML, Arauzo J, Bilbao R. Influence of catalyst weight/biomass flow rate ratio on gas production in the catalytic pyrolysis of pine sawdust at low temperatures. Industrial and Engineering Chemistry Research 1998;37:3812–9.
- [50] Minowa T, Ogi T, Yokoyama S-Y. Hydrogen production from wet cellulose by low temperature gasification using a reduced nickel catalyst. Chemistry Letters 1995;10:937–8.
- [51] Marquevich MC, Chornet SE, Montane D. Hydrogen from biomass: steam reforming of model compounds of fast-pyrolysis oil. Energy Fuels 1999;13:1160–6.
- [52] Gil J, Cabellero MA, Martin JA, Aznar MP, Corella J. Biomass gasification with air in a fluidized bed: effect of the in-bed use of dolomite under different operation conditions. Industrial and Engineering Chemistry Research 1999;38:4226–35.
- [53] Garcia L, Salvador ML, Arauzo J, Bilbao R. Catalytic steam gasification of pine sawdust. Effect of catalyst weight/biomass Flow rate and steam/biomass ratios on gas production and composition. Energy Fuels 1999;13: 851–9.
- [54] Minowa T, Fang Z. Hydrogen production from cellulose in hot compressed water using reduced nickel catalyst: production distribution at different reaction temperatures. Journal of Chemical Engineering of Japan 1998;31(3):488–91.
- [55] Kinoshita CM, Wang Y, Zhou J. Effect of reformer conditions on catalytic reforming of biomass-gasification tars. Industrial and Engineering Chemistry Research 1995;34:2949–54.
- [56] Cookson Jr JT. Physicochemical changes of substances by or within carbon adsorption beds. In: Suffet IH, McGuire MJ, editors. Activated carbon adsorption of organics from the aqueous phase. Ann Arbor Science Publishers, Inc.: Ann Arbor; 1980. p. 379–96.
- [57] Radovic LR, Sudhakar C. Carbon as a catalyst support: production, properties and applications. In: Marsh EAHH, Rodriguez-Reinoso F, editors. Introduction to carbon technologies. Alicante, Spain: Universidad de Alicante; 1997. p. 103–65.
- [58] Boukis N, Diem V, Dinjus E, Galla U, Kruse A. Biomass gasification in supercritical water. In: Proceedings of the 12th European conference on biomass for energy, industry and climate protection, Amsterdam, 17–21 June 2002. p. 396–9.
- [59] Potic B, van de Beld L, Assink D, Prins W, van Swaaij WPM. Gasification of biomass in supercritical water. In: Proceedings of the 12th European confernce on biomass

for energy, industry and climate protection, Amsterdam, 17–12 June 2002. p. 777–80.

- [60] Potic B, Kersten SRA, Prins W, van Swaaij WPM. A high-throughput screening technique for conversion in hot compressed water. Indusrial and Engineering Chemistry Research 2004;43:4580–4.
- [61] Sealock Jr LJ, Elliott DC. Method for the catalytic conversion of lignocellulosic materials, US Patent #5,019,135, 1991.
- [62] Elliott DC, Sealock JLJ, Baker EG. Method for the catalytic conversion of organic materials into a product gas, US Patent #5,616,154, 1997.
- [63] Elliott DC, Sealock JLJ. Low temperature gasification of biomass under pressure. In: Overend RP, Milne TA, Mudge LK, editors. Fundamentals of thermochemical biomass conversion. Elsevier: London; 1985. p. 937–50.
- [64] Elliott DC, Baker EG, Butner RS, Sealock JLJ. Benchscale reactor tests of low-temperature, catalytic gasification of wet industrial wastes. Journal of Solar Energy Engineering 1993;115(1):52–6.
- [65] Elliott DC, Sealock LJ, Phelps MR, Neuenschwander GG, Hart TR. Development of a catalytic system for gasification of wet biomass. In: Proceedings of the first biomass conference of the Americas: energy, environment, agriculture, and industry, August 30–September 2, 1993, Burlington, Vermont, US, p. 557–70.
- [66] Elliott DC, Sealock JLJ, Baker EG. Chemical processing in high-pressure aqueous environments. 2. Development of catalysts for gasification. Industrial and Engineering Chemistry Research 1993;32(8):1542–8.
- [67] Shin HY, Matsumoto K, Higashi H, Iwai Y, Arai Y. Development of a solution model to correlate solubilities of inorganic compounds in water vapor under high temperatures and pressures. Journal of Supercritical Fluids 2001;21:105–10.
- [68] Elliott DC, Werpy TA, Wang Y, Frye Jr JG. Ruthenium on Rutile Catalyst, Catalytic System, and Method for Aqueous Phase Hydrogenations, US Patent #6,235,797, 2001.
- [69] Minowa T, Zhen F, Ogi T. Cellulose decomposition in hot-compressed water with alkali or nickel catalyst. Journal of Supercritical Fluids 1998;13:253–9.
- [70] Kruse A, Meier D, Rimbrecht P, Schacht M. Gasification of pyrocatechol in supercritical water in the presence of potassium hydroxide. Industrial and Engineering Chemistry Research 2000;39:4842–8.
- [71] Minowa T, Fang Z, Ogi T, Varhegyi G. Liquefaction of cellulose in hot compressed water using sodium carbonate: products distribution at different reaction temperatures. Journal of Chemical Engineering of Japan 1997;30(1):186–90.
- [72] Sjostrom E. Wood chemistry fundamentals and applications. Orland, FL: Academic Press; 1981.
- [73] Matsumura Y, Ishitani H, Takumi T, Fukunaga H. Development of a cheap and compact process for continuous production of fluid fuel from biomass using catalytic hydrothermal reaction. Available from http://

www.nedo.go.jp, 06000107448.pdf (2005/2/11 accessed.), 2002.

- [74] Yoshida T, Matsumura Y. Gasification of cellulose, xylan and lignin mixtures in supercritical water. Industrial and Engineering Chemistry Research 2001;40(23):5469–74.
- [75] Yoshida T, Oshima Y, Matsumura Y. Gasification of biomass model compounds and real biomass in supercritical water. Biomass and Bioenergy 2004;26(1):71–8.
- [76] Klass DL. Biomass for Renewable Energy, Fuels, and Chemicals. Academic Press: San Diego; 1998. p. 292–94.
- [77] Matsumura Y. Biomass gasification in supercritical water with partial oxidation. In: Proceedings of the 8th Meeting on Supercritical Fluids, Chemical Reactivity and Material Processing in Supercritical Fluids, Bordeaux, April 14–17, 2002. p. 707–12.
- [78] Matsumura Y, Harada M, Li D, Komiyama H, Yoshida Y, Ishitani H, Fukunaga H, Yamada K. Partial oxidation of biomass in supercritical water for gasification and successive methanol production. In: Proceedings of the AIChE 2002 annual meeting, Indianapolis, November 3–8, 2002.
- [79] Lee I-G, Lee J-S, Kim M-S. Hydrogen production by the gasification of biomass in supercritical water. In: Proceedings of the 5th Korea–Japan Joint symposium '99 on hydrogen energy, Yusong, Taejon, Korea, November 26, 1999. p. 365–72.
- [80] Lee I-G, Kim M-S, Ihm S-K. Gasification of glucose in supercritical water. Industrial and Engineering Chemistry Research 2002;41:1182–8.
- [81] Matsumura Y, Adschiri T, Xu X, Garcia A, Antal Jr MJ. Reaction rate of activated Carbon with supercritical water. In: Proceedings of the 4th international symposium on supercritical fluids, Sendai, Japan, p. 555–8.
- [82] Matsumura Y, Xu X, Michael Jerry Antal J. Gasification characteristics of an activated carbon in supercritical water. Carbon 1997;35:819–24.
- [83] Kruse A, Gawlik A. Biomass conversion in water at 330–410 °C and 30–50 MPa. Identification of key compounds for indicating different chemical reaction pathway. Industrial and Engineering Chemistry Research 2003;42:267–79.
- [84] Kruse A, Henningsen T, Pfeiffer J, Sinag A. Biomass gasification in supercritical water; influence of the dry matter content and the formation of phenols. Industrial and Engineering Chemistry Research 2003;42:3711–7.
- [85] Elliott DC, Sealock LJ. Aqueous catalyst systems for the water-gas shift reaction 1. Comparative catalyst studies. Industrial and Engineering Chemistry Product Research and Development 1983;22:426–31.
- [86] Sinag A, Kruse A, Rathert J. Influence of the heating rate and the type of catalyst on the formation of selected intermediates and on the generation of gases during hydropyrolysis of glucose with supercritical water in a batch reactor. Industrial and Engineering Chemistry Research 2004;43:502–8.
- [87] Schmieder H, Abeln J, Boukis N, Dinjus E, Kruse A, Kluth M, Petrich G, Sadri E, Schacht M. Hydrothermal

gasification of biomass and organic wastes. Journal of Supercritical Fluids 2000;17:145–53.

- [88] Sinag A, Kruse A, Schwarzkopf V. Key compounds of the hydropyrolysis of glucose in supercritical water in the presence of K<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub>. Industrial and Engineering Chemistry Research 2003;42:3516–21.
- [89] Bühler W, Dinjus E, Ederer HJ, Kruse A, Mas C. Ionic reactions and pyrolysis of glycerol as competing reaction pathways in near- and supercritical water. Journal of Supercritical Fluids 2002;22:37–53.
- [90] Garcia AN, Xu X, Antal Jr MJ. Carbon catalyzed gasification of organic wastes in supercritical water. In: Proceedings of the 4th international symposium on supercritical fluids, Sendai, p. 875–80.
- [91] Antal MJ, Allen SG, Schulman D, Xu XD, Divilio RJ. Biomass gasification in supercritical water. Industrial and Engineering Chemistry Research 2000;39:4040–53.
- [92] Japan Gas Association, Report on Investigation of Energy Conversion Technology for Waste Materials Using Supercritical Water. Available from http://www.nedo.go.jp, 10000264553.pdf (2005/2/11 accessed.), 2002.
- [93] Watanabe M, Inomata H, Arai K. Catalytic hydrogen generation from biomass (glucose and cellulose) with ZrO<sub>2</sub> in supercritical water. Biomass and Bioenergy 2002; 22(5):405–10.
- [94] Watanabe M, Inomata H, Osada M, Sato T, Adschiri T, Arai K. Catalytic effects of NaOH and ZrO<sub>2</sub> for partial oxidative gasification of *n*-hexadecane and lignin in supercritical water. Fuel 2003;82(5):545–52.
- [95] Minowa T, Dote Y, Sawayama S, Yokoyama S, Murakami M. Phase changing of garbage from solid to liquid slurry by thermal liquidization. Journal of Chemical Engineering of Japan 1995;28:727–31.
- [96] Sawayama S, Inoue S, Minowa T, Tsukahara K, Ogi T. Thermochemical liquidization and anaerobic treatment of

kitchen garbage. Journal of Fermentation and Bioengineering 1997;83:451-5.

- [97] Sawayama S, Inoue S, Tsukahara K, Ogi T. Thermochemical liquidization of anaerobically digested and dewatered sludge and anaerobic retreatment. Bioresearch Technology 1996;55:141–4.
- [98] Dote Y, Yokoyama S, Minowa T, Masuta T, Itoh K, Suzuki A. Thermochemical liquidization of dewatered sewage sludge. Biomass and Bioenergy 1993;4:243–8.
- [99] Kato A, Matsumura Y. Hydrothermal pulping of wet biomass as pretreatment for supercritical water gasification. Journal of the Japanese Institution of Energy 2003;82(2):97–102.
- [100] Kersten SRA, Prins W, Van Swaaij WPM. Reactor Design Considerations for Biomass Gasification in Hot Compressed Water. In: Proceedings of the 2nd world conference and technology exhibition on biomass for energy, industry and climate protection, Rome, Italy, p. 1062–65.
- [101] Matsumura Y, Nagata K, Harada M, Yamashina KI, Shimamura M, Kikuchi Y. Effect of heating rate on characteristics of supercritical water gasification. In: Proceedings of the 12th annual meeting of Japan institute of energy, Sapporo, July 30–31, 2003. p.156–7.
- [102] Matsumura Y, Minowa T, Xu X, Nuessle FW, Adschiri T, Antal Jr MJ. High-pressure carbon dioxide removal in supercritical water gasification of biomass. In: Bridgwater AV, Boocock DGB, editors. Developments in thermochemical biomass conversion. Blackie Academic & Professional; 1997. p. 864–77.
- [103] Matsumura Y. Evaluation of supercritical water gasification and biomethanation for wet biomass utilization in Japan. Energy Conversion Management 2002;43(9–12): 1301–10.